

BearWorks

MSU Graduate Theses

Summer 2018

Sodium Pyruvate Alters the Immune Response to Influenza A Virus Infection in Macrophages

Hazzar Abysalamah Missouri State University, Hazzar1411@live.missouristate.edu

As with any intellectual project, the content and views expressed in this thesis may be considered objectionable by some readers. However, this student-scholar's work has been judged to have academic value by the student's thesis committee members trained in the discipline. The content and views expressed in this thesis are those of the student-scholar and are not endorsed by Missouri State University, its Graduate College, or its employees.

Follow this and additional works at: https://bearworks.missouristate.edu/theses Part of the <u>Biochemistry Commons</u>, <u>Biology Commons</u>, <u>Immunity Commons</u>, <u>Immunopathology Commons</u>, and the <u>Virology Commons</u>

Recommended Citation

Abysalamah, Hazzar, "Sodium Pyruvate Alters the Immune Response to Influenza A Virus Infection in Macrophages" (2018). *MSU Graduate Theses*. 3301. https://bearworks.missouristate.edu/theses/3301

This article or document was made available through BearWorks, the institutional repository of Missouri State University. The work contained in it may be protected by copyright and require permission of the copyright holder for reuse or redistribution.

For more information, please contact bearworks@missouristate.edu.

SODIUM PYRUVATE ALTERS THE IMMUNE RESPONSE TO INFLUENZA A VIRUS INFECTION IN MACROPHAGES

A Masters Thesis

Presented to

The Graduate College of

Missouri State University

In Partial Fulfillment

Of the Requirements for the Degree

Master of Science, Biology

By

Hazzar Marwan Abysalamah

August 2018

Copyright 2018 by Hazzar Marwan Abysalamah

SODIUM PYRUVATE ALTERS THE IMMUNE RESPONSE TO INFLUENZA A

VIRUS INFECTION IN MACROPHAGES

Biology

Missouri State University, August 2018

Master of Science

Hazzar Marwan Abysalamah

ABSTRACT

Pyruvate is the end product of glycolysis. It can either be transported into the mitochondria for use in the TCA cycle or be used to regenerate NAD⁺ during fermentation or aerobic glycolysis (also called the Warburg Effect). I recently discovered that addition of sodium pyruvate to the culture medium during infection of macrophages with influenza A virus affects the production of cytokines involved in immune signaling. While infection of macrophages with influenza A virus affects and TNF- α) in the absence of sodium pyruvate, the addition of sodium pyruvate significantly impaired cytokine production. I hypothesized that sodium pyruvate may directly inhibit virus entry or replication resulting in less immune stimulation. Alternatively, the addition of sodium pyruvate may alter metabolic pathways in the macrophages and affect the immune response to the infection. However, sodium pyruvate did not affect virus growth. Instead, the addition of pyruvate resulted in reduced reactive oxygen species production in the mitochondria resulting in diminished immune signaling. Overall, the effects of sodium pyruvate are on the immune response produced by the macrophages and not the growth of the virus.

KEYWORDS: immune response, macrophages, influenza a virus, sodium pyruvate, and metabolism

This abstract is approved as to form and content

Dr. Christopher Lupfer Chairperson, Advisory Committee Missouri State University

SODIUM PYRUVATE ALTERS THE IMMUNE RESPONSE TO INFLUENZA A

VIRUS INFECTION IN MACROPHAGES

By

Hazzar Marwan Abysalamah

A Masters Thesis Submitted to the Graduate College Of Missouri State University In Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements For the Degree of Master of Science, Biology

August 2018

Approved:

Christopher Lupfer, PhD

Kyoungtae Kim, PhD

Babur Mirza, PhD

Julie Masterson, PhD: Dean, Graduate College

In the interest of academic freedom and the principle of free speech, approval of this thesis indicates the format is acceptable and meets the academic criteria for the discipline as determined by the faculty that constitute the thesis committee. The content and views expressed in this thesis are those of the student-scholar and are not endorsed by Missouri State University, its Graduate College, or its employees.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to express my sincere gratitude to Dr. Christopher Lupfer for helping me whole heartedly to work on this project and providing the lab space for this project.

I would like to thank Dr. Teneema Kuriakose for helpful discussion during the development of this project. In addition, I would like to thank my committee members Dr. Kyoungtae Kim and Dr. Babur Mirza for being open to discussion and supporting the project.

I want to thank Missouri State University for funding and resources that were essential for this project.

I dedicate my success to Dr. Christopher Lupfer and my parents for their support and everyone who was involved in the success the project.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Introduction	1
Influenza A Virus	2
The Innate Immune System	4
Metabolism and the Immune System	7
Problem Statement and Hypothesis	10
Material and Methods	11
Overall Experimental Design	11
Animal Welfare	11
Making Bone Marrow Macrophages	12
Production of Influenza A Virus in Chicken Eggs	13
Preparation of Virus Stocks from MDCK Cells by Ultracentrifugation	14
Flu Plaque Assav	15
Enzyme-Linked Immunosorbent Assay (ELISA)	16
Western Blotting	17
Cell Death and Mitochondrial Damage	18
RNA Isolation	
CDNA Synthesis and Real-Time PCR	20
Effects of Different Inhibitors on the Immune Response	20
Comparing the Effects of Inhibitors on Different Pathogens or Treatments	21
Statistical Analysis	
Results	23
NaPyr Affects the Immune Response, Not Virus Replication	23
Examination of Possible Metabolic Effects of NaPyr on Macrophage Immune	
Responses	24
Mechanism for NaPyr Inhibition of Cytokines	25
Effects of NaPyr on Other Infections	26
Discussion	27
References	30

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1. MHN Buffer	39
Table 2. 1x Plaque Assay Medium	39
Table 3. 2x Plaque Assay Medium	39
Table 4. Wash Buffer: 1x Tris Buffer Saline With 0.05% Tween 20 (TBST)	39
Table 5. 10x Tris Buffer Saline	40
Table 6. 1x Tris/Glycine/SDS Buffer (Running Buffer)	40
Table 7. 1xTris/Glycine Buffer (Transfer Buffer).	40
Table 8. Antibodies	40
Table 9. Primer Sequences	41

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1. Generating the Standard Curve for ELISA Test42
Figure 2. Sodium Pyruvate Affects Cytokine Production During IAV Infection43
Figure 3. Sodium Pyruvate Does Not Affect Virus Replication44
Figure 4. Inhibitors of Glycolysis Also Affect Cytokine Production
Figure 5. RT-PCR of Cytokine Gene Expression46
Figure 6. IL-1β Expression and Inflammatory Signaling Pathways47
Figure 7. The Effects of NaPyr to Cell Death and Mitochondrial Damage50
Figure 8. The Effect of NaPyr on Caspase -1 Activation in Flu Infection
Figure 9. Effects of NaPyr on <i>E. coli</i>
Figure 10. Effects of NaPyr on LPS+ATP53
Figure 11. Effect of NaPyr on Mitochondrial Damage for Other Infection
Figure 12. Testing the Effect of NaPyr on Caspase-1 Activation with Other Infection55

INTRODUCTION

Increasing our understanding of the immune system, in general has the potential to provide vaccines, treatments and diagnostics that can improve the quality of life and reduce the number of deaths around the world because of infectious and immune diseases. Finding products that can support the immune response and fight infections is a major problem because every day many people around the world die from severe acute infections like Ebola or "Bird Flu", chronic diseases like Hepatitis C virus, and other viral infections causing inflammation. Vaccines do not exist for many of these infections; therefore, understanding how the immune system is regulated in response to such infections is essential for developing treatments.

Recently, immunologists have come to appreciate that immune cells require specific metabolic pathways in order to function correctly. Specifically, glycolysis is required by T cells and macrophages in order to respond to a viral infection or to fight cancer (1). In addition, several reports demonstrate that inhibiting glycolysis blocks the ability of influenza A virus (IAV) to replicate in cells. During the course of infecting macrophages with IAV, we noted that using different brands of cell culture media with different nutrient compositions had an effect on the magnitude of the immune response. Thus, understanding what affects nutrients play on the immune response to IAV will help us better understand the immune response in general, but it will also help us determine if certain nutrients or nutritional supplements can improve or impair the immune response to IAV.

Influenza A Virus

Respiratory viruses in general, and IAV in particular, represent continuing global threats to human health (2). Seasonal and pandemic Influenza both play major roles in the health and economy of countries worldwide (3). Even though the IAV vaccine has existed for over 70 years, IAV continues causing seasonal epidemics and occasional pandemics around the world (4). IAV is easily transmitted in different ways. For instance, it can be transmitted by inhaling contaminated air if someone sneezes, by shaking hands with sick people and then touching your face, and by touching contaminated surfaces like desks or door knobs and then touching your face. Symptoms are various but include cough, sneeze, shaking chills, headache, stuffy and runny nose, sore throat, fatigue, and often a high fever. IAV can cause respiratory problems and death especially in those age 65 and older (5).

IAV is a member of the Orthomyxoviridae family. IAV can infect both humans and animals including horses, dogs, whales, seals, birds, ducks and more (6). It is a negative sense single-stranded virus (-) ssRNA, which has eight genome segments encoding 10-12 genes, depending on the strain. The two main surface glycoproteins are the hemagglutinin (HA) and neuraminidase (NA), and they are the main targets for antibodies made by the host during the immune response or during vaccination. In general, antibodies against HA are considered for both therapeutic and diagnostic potential (7). HA performs two main functions: cell attachment via binding sialic acids (SA) on host cell glycoproteins and fusion of cellular membranes and viral membranes following virion internalization into endosomes (8). Membrane fusion also requires a transmembrane protein in IAV called the M2 ion channel, which allows for the passage of H⁺ ions in the acidifying endosome to enter the virion resulting in conformational changes in the HA protein that induces membrane fusion and also results in unpackaging of the virus genome from the virus matrix. The NA protein is an enzyme that removes sialic acid from the surface of infected cells preventing the new virions from infecting the cell they just left and allowing the virus to infect other healthy cells in the host or spread to a new host (9, 10, 11). There are actually 18 major variants of HA and 11 variants of NA among IAV strains (12, 13). Virus strains are designated based on their HA and NA proteins (for example H3N2, H5N1 or H1N1).

IAV has the ability to reassort and create a new strain if a host is infected by two different strains of IAV simultaneously. For instance, a new H1N1 strain was introduced into the human population in 2009 that came about when a pig was infected with different strains of IAV originating from a pig, a human and a duck (14). This new IAV strain was antigenically unique meaning that no one in the human population had immunity to it, and it was able to spread rapidly causing the first IAV pandemic of the 21st century (15). This process of reassortment is possible due to the fact that the genome of IAV is segmented. If two different viruses infect the same cell at the same time, the segments from one virus can be packaged randomly into new virions as they leave the cell. The ability of IAV to reassort and make antigenically distinct viruses leads to periodic changes in the viruses that circulate among humans and results in pandemics including 1918, 1957, 1968, 1977, and 2009 pandemics. However, not all IAVs have the same virulence. The 1918 "Spanish Flu" killed as many as 230 million people, but the 2009 "Swine Flu" only killed about 284,500-500,000 people (16, 17). There are clearly genetic differences between these viruses that account for some differences in virulence,

but the overall health of the human population has also been implicated in the severity of new pandemics (18, 19). Obviously, in 2009, the healthcare available was far superior to that in 1918. For instance, the IAV vaccine was also not available in 1918. The nutritional status of humans has also improved over the last 100 years and may play a role in susceptibility to severe IAV infection (20). Thus, we are interested in understanding how metabolism or altering metabolic pathways can affect the immune response and outcomes of IAV infection.

The Innate Immune System

Cells of the Innate Immune System. The immune system is a defense system to fight pathogens causing diseases in the body. The immune system has two parts: innate immunity and adaptive immunity. The innate immune system is the first line of defense and consists of a variety of cells that can detect many foreign particles. White blood cells (WBCs) or leukocytes, which are derived from hematopoietic stem cells from bone marrow, can differentiate into many types of cells. For instance, monocytes, neutrophils, basophils, eosinophils, NK cells and lymphocytes are all leukocytes. Macrophages can play a major role in the immune system to defend against different types of pathogens. They have the ability to phagocytose and digest pathogens or any foreign particles that enter the body (21). They also have the ability to activate the adaptive immune system by carrying digested pathogen material to lymph nodes and presenting antigens to the T lymphocytes through MHC class I and II proteins on the macrophage cell surface (22). Finally, macrophages are activated during infection and produce immune signaling proteins called cytokines that can travel throughout the body and induce the production of

more leukocytes from the bone marrow (23), cause fever (24), recruit more leukocytes to the sight of infection (25, 26), and cause blood vessels to become leaky resulting in inflammation (27). The types of cytokines produced by macrophages depend on several things. One factor affecting cytokine production is the pathogen causing the infection (virus, bacteria, or parasite). Another factor is the metabolic environment at the site of infection. There are a variety of conditions that can alter metabolism and alter innate inflammatory conditions. Examples include obesity, diabetes, and other metabolic syndromes. Based on the metabolic environment and the pathogen, macrophages are classified into two cell types: M1 or classically activated macrophages (CAM), and M2 or alternatively activated macrophages (AAM). M1 macrophages are pro-inflammatory and are prevalent during viral and bacterial infections where glycolysis can function. M2 macrophages are common during parasite infections or when oxidative phosphorylation is dominant (28, 29).

Pathogen Detection by the Innate Immune System. The innate immune system has germline-encoded pattern-recognition receptors (PRRs). These sensors are capable of recognizing microorganisms that invade the host (30). PRRs are receptor proteins found on the surface of immune cells, for example, dendritic cells, macrophages, and lymphocytes, as well as some epithelial cells. These proteins can bind to pathogenassociated molecular patterns (PAMPs) such as lipopolysaccharide or peptidoglycan from bacteria and double-stranded RNA from virus genomes (31). When IAV infects cells, the virus genomic RNA is the major PAMP detected by PRRs. Toll-like receptors (TLRs) are a class of PRRs that are on the membranes of cells or in endosome membranes. TLRs consists of 13 family members, each has the ability to detect PAMPs that have been

derived from different pathogens such as bacteria, fungi, and virus (32). TLR3 can detect double-stranded RNA from IAV in the endosomes when the virus enters the cell by endocytosis. TLR7 is located in endosomes (33, 34, 35) and it can detect single-stranded RNA. TLR7 can play an important role in immunity against ssRNA viruses such as IAV and vesicular stomatitis virus (VSV). TLR7 is required to generate immunity against ssRNA viruses (36). Other sensors of viral replication are RIG-I-like receptors and are found in the cytoplasm of cells. RIG-I can detect the presence of viral RNA and 5'triphosphorylated RNA species (37). In general, they can detect a variety of intracellular pathogens (38). Detection of PAMPs by PRRs can activate a variety of immune signaling pathways resulting in the production of cytokines or increased phagocytosis.

Transcription Factor Activation by PRRs. When RIG-I is activated, it moves to the mitochondria, where it interacts with Mitochondrial Antiviral Signaling protein (MAVS) (39, 40). MAVS then recruits different adaptors to gather at the mitochondria forming the MAVS signalosome, which includes TRAF family member proteins that associate with the transcription factor NF- κ B (41). NF- κ B is a transcription factor that controls transcription of genes for various cytokines including pro-interleukin-1β (pro-IL-1β), IL-6 and tumor necrosis factor- α (TNF- α) (42, 43). Similarly, TLR3 and TLR7 detect the genetic material dsRNA or ssRNA from intracellular pathogens like viruses, fungi, or bacteria (44). The activation of TLR3 or TLR7 will initiate a cascade of events leading to activation of the same transcription factor NF- κ B. Activation of NF- κ B requires activation of two kinases, I κ B kinase alpha and beta (IKK- α , - β), which phosphorylates the inhibitory κ B (I κ B) proteins leading to their degradation and releasing NF- κ B to enter the nucleus and activate transcription (45).

Inflammasome Activation by PRRs. The inflammasome is a multiprotein complex, and it has a biochemical function which that results in cleavage and activation of the cysteine protease caspase-1 (46). Inflammasomes are present in a variety of cells such as macrophages, dendritic cells, neutrophil, B cells, and T cells (47). Active caspase-1 leads to activation of the inflammatory cytokines IL-1 β and IL-18 (48, 49). Inflammasome activation is regulated by several PRRs that detect PAMPs such as DNA or flagellin in the cytoplasm (AIM2 and NLRC4 respectively). NOD-like receptor containing a pyrin 3 (NLRP3) can also cause inflammasome formation (50). However, NLRP3 is somewhat unique in how it senses pathogens. NLRP3 does not directly detect pathogen molecules like viral RNA. Instead, NLRP3 responds to defined microbial components gaining access to the cytosol (51) and requires microbial stimuli or cytokines expressed through the activation of NF- κ B. NLRP3 activation forms the inflammasome complex with the adaptor molecule ASC, which controls the activation of caspase-1 (52). The activation of caspase-1 cleaves pro-IL-1 β and pro-IL-18 into the biologically active, secreted forms of these cytokines (53).

Metabolism and the Immune System

Glycolysis is a central pathway in cellular glucose metabolism that produces energy and intermediate metabolites for use in other biosynthesis pathways (54, 55, 56). Intracellular glucose is phosphorylated into glucose-6-phosphate to enter glycolysis and the final products are ATP, NADH and pyruvate. Pyruvate then feeds into the tricarboxylic acid cycle (TCA) in the mitochondria, where additional ATP, NADH and FADH₂ are produced and CO₂ is a byproduct. The NADH and FADH₂ produced in

glycolysis and the TCA cycle donate electrons to the electron transport chain in the inner mitochondrial membrane where O_2 is the final electron acceptor. The energy from the electrons is then converted into a proton-motive force to drive ATP synthesis (57, 58).

The chemical formula for sodium pyruvate (NaPyr) is NaC₃H₃O₃. Pyr can play a role in energy metabolism as just discussed. In addition to the typical glycolysis-to-TCA pathway, Pyr can be derived from lactate taken up from outside the cells, or it can be made intracellularly from amino acids (59). Although Pyr is an important metabolite, it has additional characteristics that are sometimes overlooked. NaPyr is often added to cell culture media due to its pH buffering abilities, and it is a carbon source similar to glucose (60). NaPyr has been discovered to help in clinical applications due to its antioxidant properties in such diseases as cardiac failure, cardiopulmonary resuscitation, myocardial stunning, and cardiopulmonary bypass surgery (61). Instead of entering the TCA cycle, anaerobic glycolysis can also occur (fermentation) where pyruvate is reduced into lactate in order to regenerate NAD⁺. In cancer cells, this also occurs even when oxygen is present (aerobic glycolysis/Warburg effect). The Warburg effect occurs when cancer cells decide to rely on aerobic glycolysis, although it is an inefficient way to generate adenosine 5'-triphosphate (ATP), instead of relying on mitochondrial oxidative phosphorylation to generate the energy, because it allows for other metabolites necessary for rapid cell division to be made, such as amino acids (62).

The reason why these metabolic pathways are essential for energy production as well as intermediate metabolites for other biosynthetic pathways, thus it is not surprising that alterations in metabolism alter immune function. For instance, as mentioned above, altering metabolism can affect M1 or M2 macrophages. One mechanism is through

regulation of immune signaling pathways like inflammasome activation. Glycolysis in general is important for cellular activation and it is involved in the immune response (63). So, the interaction between immune signaling pathways and metabolic pathways leads to plethora of signaling pathways and cellular activation mechanisms (64). Since the immune system is composed of various cell types and subtypes that are essential to defending the host against foreign particles, these metabolic pathways play cell-specific roles. For instance: metabolic pathways regulate T cells and macrophages by glycolysismediated upregulation of surface markers for convenient effector response against pathogens. So, regulation of metabolism inside immune cells is required to activate immune cells necessary to protect the host and keep homeostasis. Dysfunction of immunological metabolic function and metabolic products such as reactive oxygen species can also lead to diseases. One of the hallmarks of cancer cells is the high level of glycolysis even in the presence of oxygen (65). Also, excessive glucose uptake can promote hyperactive immune responses and possible immune pathology (66). Glucose restriction can affect inflammasome activation and NF-kB activation (67). In the absence of glucose, induced by the addition of inhibitors of ATPase, cells will apoptosis (68). Many cells of the immune system use aerobic glycolysis as a rapid energy source and as a way to regulate immune function. Glucose provides energy that lymphocytes need through glycolysis or by the pentose phosphate pathway to generate more NADPH (69). In addition, glucose can supply a carbon source for the synthesis of other macronutrients like nucleic acids and phospholipids. Another way is that glucose can be metabolized during aerobic glycolysis is not found exclusively in cancer cells, but it also can be found in rapidly dividing normal cells even under conditions of normoxia (70, 71). Not only

macrophages use glucose as an energy source, but T cells use glucose as a primary fuel source (72). Understanding this point was the first step in thinking about how sodium pyruvate could affect macrophages during IAV infection.

Problem Statement and Hypothesis

I discovered through preliminary experiments that the addition of sodium pyruvate to the culture medium during infection of macrophages with influenza A virus has an inhibitory effect. This leads to a decrease in the production of pro-inflammatory cytokines (IL-1 β , TNF α , IL-6) which are involved in immune signaling.

The object of my research is to determine what effect sodium pyruvate has on the immune response during influenza A virus infection, to make sure that sodium pyruvate can alter immune response, and finally, to determine if NaPyr can control the infection to protect the body from pathogens.

There are two possibilities that can explain how pyruvate functions: first is pyruvate will go to mitochondria and make more energy. The second possibility is adding more pyruvate will inhibit the glycolysis pathway due to an excess of the end product.

The question that we are trying to find a scientific answer to is what is the impact of using NaPyr on the immune response? I hypothesize that adding NaPyr to culture media during influenza A virus infection of macrophages will alter energy production in macrophages and affect the immune response. Alternatively, NaPyr may directly inhibit the influenza A virus infection and lessen the immune response.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Overall Experimental Design

In the current study, my focus is on the role of NaPyr in altering the immune response in macrophages. There are several overall objectives: First is determining if NaPyr affects macrophages directly or if it affects virus replication and inhibits the immune response by inhibiting the virus. This will be done by checking virus titer and virus RNA levels in macrophages. Second is adding different inhibitors such as 2deoxyglucose (2DG), heptelidic acid (HA), and NaPyr to see if inhibitors of glycolysis (2DG, HA) also affect the immune response of macrophages infected with IAV. For this type of experiment, I examined immune signaling by western blot, cytokine gene expression by qRT-PCR, cytokine production by ELISA, and cell death or mitochondrial damage by flow cytometry. All of these experiments helped me determine the mechanism that NaPyr uses to alter the immune response in macrophages.

Animal Welfare

All mice used in these experiments were C57BL/6J mice that were bred and raised in the Temple Hall Vivarium according to IACUC protocol 16.015. They were then transferred to IACUC protocol 16.009 prior to experimental use. All breeding and experiments were performed in accordance with Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee (IACUC) guidelines under protocol (January 8, 2016; approval #16.009 and February 17, 2016; approval #16.015), the AVMA Guidelines on Euthanasia, NIH regulations (Guide for the Care and Use of Laboratory Animals), and the U.S. Animal

Welfare Act of 1966. All associated work with cell culture was completed inside a sterilized biosafety cabinet.

Making Bone Marrow Macrophages

In order to do these experiments, I needed to generate macrophages (white blood cells) from bone marrow stem cells and infect them with influenza A virus (IAV). Macrophages are made by taking bone marrow from the femur and tibia of 7-14-week-old C57BL/6J mice. Bone marrow cells were then grown for 5 days in cell culture dishes (150 mm x 25mm) having bone marrow differentiation media (BMDM), and cells were fed with additional BMDM on day 3. To make 500ml of BMDM media, I use 300ml Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium (DMEM), 50ml heat inactivated Fetal Bovine Serum (FBS), 150 ml L929 cell conditioned media, 5 ml Non-essential amino acids (NEAA), and 5ml penicillin–streptomycin (Pen/Strep). L929 cell conditioned mediam contains Macrophage colony-stimulating factor (M-CSF) and is made by growing L929 cells in DMEM+10% FBS+Pen/Strep.

On day 5 of BMDM growth, I prepared cells to plate them by sucking the media out of the dishes, then adding 10 ml of phosphate-buffer saline (PBS) and letting it incubate for three minutes. Macrophages are adherent cells and must be scraped off the cell culture dish using a sterile plastic cell scraper. Macrophages in the PBS were then transferred to a 50ml tube. 5 ml of extra PBS was added to the dishes to rinse them to make sure that all macrophages are removed and then transferred to the 50ml tube. 50ml tubes of macrophages were centrifuged at 400xg for 7 minutes. Supernatants were removed and replaced with 10 ml BMDM. Cells were counted using a hemocytometer

and plated in 12 well plates at 1×10^6 cells/well in 1ml BMDM media and incubated overnight to allow cells time to adhere to the new plates. Macrophages were then used the following day for infection experiments.

Production of Influenza A Virus in Chicken Eggs

The strain of IAV used in all experiments is the influenza A/PR/8/34 H1N1 strain. Prior approval for this project was obtained from the Institutional Biosafety Committee (IBC) on October 2nd, 2015. In order to generate virus, specific pathogen-free chicken eggs were ordered from Charles River. Eggs arrived on day 0. Eggs were incubated at 38 ⁰C (99 ⁰F) for 10 days. Location of the embryo was determined by shining a light on the eggs to make sure that the embryo is viable and mark its location (candling). On the opposite side of the egg from the embryo, a spot was marked 1/4 inch from the air sack membrane. Eggs were sterilized by spraying them with 70 % ethanol. A 20-gauge needle was used to make a hole in the shell at the mark. (It is important to not poke a hole through the embryo, only through the shell). The virus used to infect the eggs was diluted at 10⁻⁴ in PBS+ antibiotics pen/strep + gentamycin. Using virus too highly concentrated will kill the embryo and result in poor virus titer. A 1-inch 25gauge needle and syringe were used to inject 100ul of virus per egg by inserting the needle through the hole at about a 45-60° angle. After injection, the hole in the eggshells was covered with super glue. Eggs were then incubated at 38°C for 3 days. Eggs were checked daily for embryo viability by candling them. On day 3, eggs were placed in the refrigerator to chill at least 3h. This is done to stop the blood flow and reduce the amount of blood in allantoic fluid during the collection process, which can bind to IAV and reduce the virus titer. Eggs

were again disinfected with 70% ethanol and the shell cracked above the air sack with tweezers and opened over the air sack to access the allantoic fluid. Allantoic fluid was then removed via pipette and placed in 15ml centrifuge tubes on ice. After harvesting the eggs, the allantoic fluid was centrifuged at 3000xg for 10 minutes to remove any cells or debris. Clarified allantoic fluid of new virus stocks was aliquoted into 100µl tubes and virus stored at -80°C for future use and determination of stock titer by plaque assay.

Preparation of Virus Stocks from MDCK Cells by Ultracentrifugation

An alternative method for virus preparation was also used. Madin-Darby Canine Kidney cells were grown in T175 flasks until confluent (about 3 days). Cells were then washed 2x with PBS and infected with 2.5×10^6 PFU of influenza A/PR/8/34 H1N1 diluted in 5 ml of 1x plaque assay media per flask. Flasks were incubated for one hour at 37^{0} C and 5% CO₂ with shaking every 10 minutes. After an hour, the media was removed and an additional 20 ml of 1x plaque media was added to each flask. Then 20µl TPCK trypsin was added to each flask to help the virus mature. Flasks were incubated at 37^{0} C and 5% CO₂ for three days and checked under the microscope to make sure that at least 85% of the cells are dead.

Media was then transferred from flasks to 50 ml centrifuge tubes and vortexed for 1 min, then centrifuged at 2000 x G for 10 minutes to remove MDCK cells. Ultracentrifuge tubes were preloaded with 3 ml of 5% sucrose in MHN buffer (Table1). This was overlaid with the virus infected media once the MDCK cells had been removed. Each tube was weighed and balanced with PBS if needed and put in the ultra-centrifuge rotor (JS-24). The centrifuge was set to a temperature of 4^oC and speed of 23,000 RPM

for 1 hour. When it was done, the centrifuge tubes were placed on ice in the biosafety cabinet before opening. The virus was pelleted at this point, so all but 3ml of the media was sucked out. The remaining 3ml of media from each tube was then combined into 1 tube and weighed again, and a balance tube was made. The pooled virus was then centrifuged again with the same conditions. The tubes were again returned to the ice in the biosafety cabinet and all but 3ml of media removed. The virus pellet and the remaining 3ml media were then vortexed in a 15ml centrifuge tube for 10 minutes to resuspend the virus pellet. The virus stock was then aliquoted at 60µl for each 1.5 ml tube and stored at -80^oC.

Flu Plaque Assay

Plaque assay is a process to determine the number of infectious virions in a sample based on the ability of the virus to kill infected cells and create a hole in the cell culture monolayer (73, 74). For the IAV plaque assay, two days before starting the plaque assay, MDCK cells were plated at 3x10⁵ cells/well in 1ml in 12-well plates with DMEM medium (1x Plaque Assay Medium) (Table 2) that has 5% FBS, pen/strep, and L-glutamine. Dilutions of the virus grown in eggs or concentrated by ultracentrifugation were prepared in 1x plaque assay medium by making 10-fold dilutions. MDCK cells were then washed with PBS twice by adding 1 ml/well. PBS was removed and 100ul/well of the virus dilutions were added to duplicate wells in the 12-well plates. Plates were incubated at 37 °C and 5% CO₂ for one hour, plates were shaken every 10 min to keep cells from drying out. After 40 minutes of incubation, the overlay was prepared. 2%

microwaved to melt the agarose. This was allowed to cool to $37-42 \,^{\circ}$ C. Then 2X plaque assay medium (Table 3) was warmed to $37-42 \,^{\circ}$ C and the 2% agarose was mixed together at a 1:1 ratio. TPCK-trypsin was added to a final concentration of 1.0 µg/ml. After the full hour of incubation, the 12-well plates were removed from the incubator and the infection medium was removed by aspiration. 2ml of the warm overlay was added to each well and allowed to harden in the biosafety cabinet with lids ajar on the plates to prevent condensation. Once the agar was hard, the plates were turned upside down and incubated for 3 days. After 3 days, the overlaid agar plugs were removed. Then, the wells were stained with 1% crystal violet in methanol. The stain was removed and wells rinsed with water. After drying, the plaques were read by counting the white spots.

Enzyme-Linked Immunosorbent Assay (ELISA)

ELISA uses antibodies specific to a protein of interest to determine the concentration of that protein in a sample. It is often used to examine cytokines (IL-1 β , TNF- α , IL-18, and IL-6). ELISA kits were purchased from thermos fisher scientific (IL-1 β , TNF- α , and IL-6, catalog #s 88-7013-88, 88-7324-88, 88-7064-88). To perform the ELISA, Corning Costar 9018 ELISA plates were coated with 100 μ l/well of capture antibody diluted 1:500 in 1x coating buffer provided by the manufacturer. Plates were then sealed and incubated overnight at 4 °C. The next day, the coating buffer was dumped and plates washed with 200 μ l wash buffer (Table 4, 5) three times. Wells in the plate were then blocked to prevent unwanted protein binding to the plate by adding 150 μ l/well of 1x ELISA assay diluent (also provided in the kit). Plates were then incubated at room temperature for 1 hour. During this time, 1x ELISA assay diluent was used to dilute the

control stock by 2-fold dilutions to generate a standard curve from 1000pg/ml to 31.25pg/ml (Figure 1). After 1-hour, the 1x ELISA assay diluent used to block the plates was removed by dumping and replaced with 100µl of each sample, the 6 standards for the standard curve, and 1 blank well (1x ELISA assay diluent). Plates were incubated for 2 hours at room temperature then washed with 200µl wash buffer three times. Biotin-conjugated-detection antibody stock was diluted 1:500 in 1x ELISA assay diluent and 100µl added to each well and plates incubated for another 45 minutes. Wells were then washed 3 times with 200µl wash buffer and streptavidin-HRP was diluted 1:500 in 1x ELISA assay diluent. Then, 100 µl was added to each well and plates incubated for another 45 minutes. After this incubation, plates were washed four times with 200µl wash buffer. 100µl of TMB substrate was added to each well in the plates and plates incubated until the 1000pg/ml standard turned dark blue. The reaction was then stopped by adding 100 µl of 1M H₂SO₄ (wells then turned yellow). Plates were read at 450nm on a microplate reader (BioTek ELx808).

Western Blotting

Western blotting was used in this project to measure the activation of caspase-1 (caspase-1 p20) and NF- κ B (phosphorylated I κ B α) as well as total pro-IL1 β and total I κ B α in both infected and uninfected samples with and without treatment. Samples were collected by adding RIPA buffer to lyse cells. 4x protein loading dye was then added to samples and they were boiled for 20 minutes. Samples were loaded on 12% polyacrylamide gels and gels were run at 100V for 2 hours in 1xTris/Glycine/SDS buffer (Running Buffer) (Table 6). Gels were transferred to Polyvinylidene difluoride (PVDF)

membranes already soaked in methanol for a few seconds and incubated for 5 minutes in 1xTris/Glycine buffer (Transfer Buffer) (Table 7). The transfer system was set up for 45 minutes at 40 Volts. When the transfer was completed, the membranes were blocked in blocking buffer (5% milk in wash buffer) on a shaker for 1 hour. The blocking buffer was removed and replaced with primary antibody diluted in 5% milk in wash buffer overnight at 4 °C. The next day, the membranes were washed 3x in wash buffer and incubated 45 minutes in secondary antibody diluted in 5% milk in wash buffer. Then, the membranes were washed 4x in wash buffer. 1 ml of Substrate (Super Signal West Fempto; ThermoFisher, A53225) was added to each membrane for 1 minute and then the membrane was imaged on an Azure C300 digital imaging system. (See table 8 for a list of antibodies).

Cell Death and Mitochondrial Damage

To determine if NaPyr, 2DG or HA altered the immune response by affecting cell death or mitochondrial function, macrophages were stained with fluorescent dyes designed to detect cell death by holes in the cell membrane (SYTOX red; ThermoFisher, S34859) or mitochondrial damage through mitochondrial reactive oxygen species production (MITOSOX; ThermoFisher, M36008). Macrophages were plated in 12-well plates and infected and/or treated as described for the different inhibitor experiments. After 24 hours, and 30 minutes before collecting samples, 25 µl of each dye diluted in RPMI was added to each well (2.5nM Mitosox, 5 mM SYTOX). One control well was also unstained as a control. One control well each was stained with only one of the two dyes as a control. After 30 minutes, the media was removed and saved for ELISA and

1ml of PBS was added to each well and the macrophages were scraped off the wells with a 1ml pipet tip. Cells and PBS were transferred to a 1.5ml tube and analyzed on an ACURI C6 flow cytometer using channel FL3 for MITOSOX and channel FL4 for SYTOX red. 10,000 cells per sample were analyzed for fluorescence intensity and positivity of each dye.

RNA Isolation

In order to test the gene expression of immune system genes, β -Actin was used as a control and IL-1 β , TNF- α , and IL-6 gene expression was examined. Viral gene expression was also examined with β -Actin as the control and influenza A virus M1 and NP genes were tested. BMDM were infected and treated as before, and samples were collected at 6, 12, and 24 hours after infection. Media was removed and 500µl of Trizol was added to samples and incubated for 5 minutes at the room temperature. Samples were transferred to 1.5ml centrifuge tubes and $100\mu l$ of chloroform was added to each sample. Then, tubes were shaken for 15 seconds by hands and incubated at room temperature for 3 minutes. Tubes were centrifuged at 12,000xg for 15 minutes at 4°C. The clear upper aqueous layer was transferred to new tubes. 250µl of 2-propanol was added to each sample. After shaking the tubes, they were incubated at room temperature for 10 minutes. Samples were centrifuged at 12,000xg for 10 minutes at 4° C. Supernatants were removed, but about 5 µl of it was left in each tube to avoid accidentally sucking up the RNA pellet. To wash the pellet, 500µl of 75% ethanol in molecular biology grade water was added to each tube. Tubes were vortexed briefly for 5 seconds. They were centrifuged at 7500xg for 5 minutes at 4^oC. Supernatants were

removed and the tubes were dried in the vacuum centrifuge with the cap open. After drying the liquid, 20μ l of the nuclease free water was added to reconstitute the RNA. Concentrations were checked by using the Implen Nanophotometer. Samples were then normalized to 200ng/ μ l by adding additional nuclease-free water to each sample.

CDNA synthesis and Real-Time PCR

High capacity cDNA reverse transcriptase kit (Thermo Fisher Scientific 436881) was used. 10 µl of the master mix were mixed with 10 µl of the isolated RNA. PCR tubes were centrifuged for 5 seconds and run on the thermocycler according to the manufacturer's instruction. Once the cycle was complete, the cDNA was diluted 1:5 by adding 80µl of molecular biology grade water. RT-PCR was performed by making a standard curve was by 2-fold dilution of the 12-hour infection sample without any inhibitors or treatments. 5µl of the standards were mixed with 15 µl of 2x DyNAmo HS SYBR Green qPCR master mix (Thermo Scientific 00596849) and added to control wells in the PCR plate. 5µl of the samples were mixed with 15 µl of master mix and were added to sample wells in the plate. Primers for β-actin, IL-1β, TNF- α , IL-6, M1, and NP, were used to test gene expression (A15612T). MX program in STRATAGENE-Mx3005P PCR machine was used for data acquisition. (See table 9 for all Primer Sequences).

Effects of Different Inhibitors on the Immune Response

Glucose is the starting substrate for glycolysis and NaPyr is the product. 2DG and HA are glycolysis inhibitors (75). I wanted to determine if glucose or inhibitors of

glycolysis also affected the immune response to IAV. 1×10^{6} macrophages were plated in 12-well plates overnight. The next day, cells were washed 2x with ml of PBS. Then 200µl of RPMI 1640 with 1x L-glutamine media was added to macrophages. 10µl of IAV (2.5 x 10^{7} PFU, 25MOI) was added to wells and they were treated with 2µl of NaPyr or glycolysis inhibitors or mock treated. Final concentrations were 1mM NaPyr, 10µM H.A, and 250µM 2DG. RPMI with inhibitors and no virus was also a control. Plates were incubated at 37 °C and 5% CO₂ for two hours with shaking. Then, 200µl RPMI +20% FBS was added to each well, and 2µl additional NaPyr or glycolysis inhibitors added to maintain the same concentration. Samples were collected at 6, 12, 24, and 29 hours.

Comparing the Effects of Inhibitors on Different Pathogens or Treatments

To determine if the effects of NaPyr, 2DG or HA were specific to IAV or general effects on the immune response of macrophages, I plated $1x10^{6}$ macrophages per well in 12-well plates. The next day, macrophages were infected by adding 200µl of RPMI 1640, with 1x L-glutamine media. Then 10µl of IAV (2.5 x 10⁷ PFU, 25MOI) was added to some wells, 10µl of *E. coli* (1MOI) or 1µl of *Aspergillus fumigatus* (0.35MOI) were also added to other wells. A final set of wells were treated with 1µg/ml LPS and 5mM ATP, but this was done the following day, as treatment with LPS only lasts for 4 hours and ATP only 30 minutes. Some wells were also treated with 2µl of NaPyr or inhibitors (1mM NaPyr, 10µM H.A, and 250µM 2DG). RPMI alone or with inhibitors and no pathogen was the control. Plates were incubated at 37 °C and 5% CO₂ for two hours with shaking. Then, 200µl RPMI +20% FBS was added to each well. An additional 2µl of

NaPyr or inhibitors was then added to maintain the same concentration. Samples were collected at 24 hours for IAV, *E. coli* and *A. fumigatus*, and 4 hours for LPS+ATP.

Statistical Analysis

Statistical analysis was performed using GraphPad PRISM6. Comparison of 2 conditions was performed using the 2-sided student's t-test. Comparison of multiple conditions was performed using the One-Way ANOVA with Tukey's posthoc test. A p-value <0.05 was considered statistically significant.

RESULTS

NaPyr Affects the Immune Response, Not virus Replication

I hypothesized that the addition of NaPyr to cell culture medium would inhibit the immune response to IAV infection. To examine the immune response, I looked at cytokines (IL-1 β , TNF α , and IL-6) produced by macrophages infected with IAV. Infected macrophages were treated with NaPyr at the same time as infection with IAV and samples collected 24 hours later. Cell culture supernatants were examined by ELISA, and the results indicate that NaPyr significantly inhibits the production of IL-1 β , TNF α , and IL-6 (Figure 2A-C). I decided there were two possible explanations for the lower amounts of cytokines. Either NaPyr was inhibiting IAV from infecting or replicating in the macrophages, or NaPyr was altering the ability of the macrophages to make IL-1 β , TNFα, and IL-6. I tested virus replication by collecting cell culture media from infected cells and performing viral plaque assays to determine the number of infectious particles produced after the 24-hour infection. I found that NaPyr did not affect the number of infectious particles (Figure 3A). To further confirm that NaPyr did not affect virus growth or its ability to infect macrophages, I infected macrophages with IAV and collected the macrophages to purify RNA and performed qRT-PCR for two different virus genes (M1 and NP). NaPyr also did not inhibit the production of virus RNA demonstrating that NaPyr does not affect the immune response by inhibiting IAV replication (Figure 3B-C).

Examination of Possible Metabolic Effects of NaPyr on Macrophage Immune Responses

To understand how NaPyr affects the immune response, I compared the immune response of macrophages infected with IAV and treated with either NaPyr or glycolysis inhibitors 2-deoxy-D-glucose (2DG) or heptelidic acid (HA) compared to control samples with RPMI+ Flu with no additive treatments. I discovered that treatment with 2DG and HA could also decrease IL-1β cytokine production during IAV infection (Figure 4 A-C). With IL-6, 2DG and NaPyr decreased cytokine production (Figure 4D, E). However, HA treatment (Figure 4F) showed increased IL-6 production compared to RPMI+Flu. TNF-a cytokine production was lower with NaPyr and both glycolysis inhibitors compared to control samples too (Figure 4G-I). To understand how NaPyr, 2DG, and HA affected cytokine production in macrophages, we examined cytokine gene expression by RT-PCR at different time points 6, 12, 24, and 29 hours after IAV infection (Figure 5). I saw that glycolysis inhibitors (especially HA) could, at some time points, inhibit gene expression, but NaPyr did not have a dramatic effect on gene expression. These data indicate that inhibiting glycolysis and altering cellular metabolism can affect cytokine production during IAV infection, but this did not mimic NaPyr treatment.

As seen in Figure 5, there were no major differences in the gene expression of any of the cytokines with NaPyr treatment. I performed western blotting (Figure 6 A-B) on cell lysates from BMDM infected with IAV and treated with NaPyr or glycolysis inhibitors. I observed that the production of pro-IL-1 β was unaffected by NaPyr treatment, but was less in cells treated with 2DG or HA (Figure 6A-B). Furthermore, the activation of NF- κ B (Phospho-I κ B) was less in cells treated with HA, but not NaPyr or

2DG (Figure 6 D-F). In some western blots, it appears that HA treatment inhibited pro-IL-1 β and NF- κ B. However, there was also less Actin loading control in these samples indicating that HA was causing cell death. These data provide evidence that NaPyr is not inhibiting NF- κ B transcription factor and the transcription of cytokine genes.

Mechanism for NaPyr Inhibition of Cytokines

As NaPyr does not appear to inhibit NF-kB signaling and gene expression like the glycolysis inhibitors do, and is not causing cell death, we examined other possible mechanisms for how NaPyr could inhibit cytokine production. One possibility is that NaPyr alters cell death or cell damage. I again infected macrophages with IAV and treated with NaPyr, 2DG, or HA. After 24 hours, then I stained cells with MitoSOX, which is incorporated into the mitochondria and fluoresces when it interacts with reactive oxygen species (ROS) like superoxide and hydrogen peroxide in damaged mitochondria (76). The flowcytometry analysis clearly showed that the median fluorescence intensity (MFI) was less in cells treated with NaPyr than RPMI media controls or with HA (Figure 7A). Less fluorescence indicates less mitochondrial damage in cells treated with NaPyr and 2DG. On the other hand, HA caused more mitochondrial damage to IAV infected macrophages (Figure 7A). I also stained macrophages with SYTOX red dye, which only stains cells with holes in the membrane (dead cells). I found that NaPyr does not cause cell death, but HA causes dramatic cell death (Figure 7B). This demonstrates that NaPyr does not work the same way to inhibit the immune response as glycolysis inhibitors and we had to reject our initial hypothesis. Instead, NaPyr is an antioxidant. In fact, some papers have shown this before (77).

NLRP3 activation has been shown in many instances to be dependent on ROS and mitochondrial damage (78, 79). If NaPyr does inhibit ROS and prevent mitochondrial damage, then this should also inhibit activation of the NLRP3 inflammasome and there should be less activation of the protease caspase-1. I examined caspase-1 activation by western blot and found that caspase-1 activation in cells infected with IAV and treated with NaPyr was less (Figure 8A-B). It was also less in cells treated with 2DG, but this could be due to the fact that NF-κB activation is also needed to express NLRP3 and "prime" the inflammasome for activation or due to less mitochondrial damage as seen by MitoSOX staining (Figure 7A).

Effects of NaPyr on Other Infections

In order to see if the effect of NaPyr is only on IAV, we infected macrophages with *Escherichia coli*, or treated cells with lipopolysaccharide (LPS) and adenosine triphosphate (ATP), which is a potent activator of the NLRP3 inflammasome (80). Cells were infected and treated at the same time with the addition of NaPyr or the glycolysis inhibitors 2DG and HA. ELISA data for IL-1 β showed that samples treated with NaPyr and 2DG had nearly the same amount of cytokine as control samples (Figure 9-10). While HA treatment showed decreases in IL-1 β production (Figure 9A, 10A). For IL-6 production, only HA affected this cytokine (Figure 9B, 10B), probably due to cell death. TNF- α also decreased with 2DG and HA treatments (Figure 9C, 10C). Finally, flowcytometry data confirmed that NaPyr and both of the glycolysis inhibitors had no effect on mitochondrial damage (Figure 11) and caspase-1 activation was also not inhibited (Figure 12).

DISCUSSION

The ability of metabolites to affect the immune response to pathogens is an important area of research with implications for preventing and treating disease. Recent research shows that changes in metabolism in cells of the immune system can affect diseases such as influenza, cancer, diabetes and more (81,82,83). The goal of this project was to understand how NaPyr can affect the immune response. My data clearly indicate that treatment of IAV infected macrophages with NaPyr can reduce cytokines (IL-1 β , TNF- α , and IL-6). However, NaPyr does not affect virus growth or replication by either plaque assay or qRT-PCR for IAV matrix (M1) or nucleoprotein (NP). This indicates that NaPyr is altering the immune function of the macrophages.

As NaPyr is the end product of glycolysis, I thought that adding NaPyr to macrophages might alter the metabolic pathways like glycolysis or the TCA cycle. Other researchers showed that inhibition of glycolysis with 2DG suppresses lipopolysaccharideinduced IL-1β (84), which is the reason why I tried to use different glucose inhibitors. However, in previous studies, inhibitors of glycolysis inhibit IAV replication by inhibiting virus entry into the cells and can lead to early cell death (85). Testing multiple glycolysis inhibitors revealed that 2DG and HA can also inhibit cytokine production during IAV infection, but my results and the results of others, suggest the mechanisms are different. 2DG likely inhibits virus infection and may also affect NF-κB activation. HA may affect NF-κB activation and also affect virus infection, but the most notable effect was the dramatic cell death it caused. Although cell death would stop production of some cytokines, dead cells can also further activate the immune system (86). On the other

hand, NaPyr did not cause cell death and had little effect on NF-κB or transcription. Instead, NaPyr inhibited mitochondrial damage and production of ROS. This caused me to reject my initial hypothesis that NaPyr was affecting glycolysis and conclude that NaPyr is an antioxidant.

The question then is how an antioxidant would inhibit the immune response. Multiple research papers, including some from Dr. Lupfer, have shown that antioxidants that can prevent mitochondrial damage can also prevent inflammasome activation and release of IL-1 β from infected cells (87). On the other hand, more ROS can enhance inflammasome activation (88). Another research paper showed that NaPyr can prevent cell death independent of ATP production (89) suggesting this was not based on metabolism. More researchers have shown that NaPyr can help decrease inflammation by its antioxidant properties (90). Although NaPyr is an antioxidant, I wanted to know if it has the same effect in all infections, or if this was specific to IAV infection. When I examined cytokine production and caspase-1 activation during infection with E. coli, I did not see a difference with any treatment except HA; however, the effect of HA was probably still due to cell death. It is possible that NaPyr did not affect the immune response to E. coli because it is not an intracellular infection. E. coli also activates a slightly different inflammasome called the non-canonical NLRP3 inflammasome that needs caspase-11 (91, 92). When I tested the effects of NaPyr or glycolysis inhibitors on treatment with LPS+ATP, only HA affected cytokine production in macrophages. This could be due to the fact that LPS+ATP is a much shorter treatment of only 4 hours instead of 24 hours.

To sum up, NaPyr affects cytokine production by inhibiting inflammasome activation because of its antioxidant properties and not by affecting the virus growth or causing cell death. NaPyr does not affect NF- κ B, but it does affect caspase-1 activation. NaPyr and the glycolysis inhibitors 2DG and HA can all impair the immune response to Influenza A virus infections in macrophages, but the mechanisms are different. The glycolysis inhibitor HA causes mitochondrial damage, but not sodium pyruvate. Sodium Pyruvate is an antioxidant. On the other hand, 2DG, and HA are glycolysis inhibitors. In the future, it will be important to verify the role of glycolysis and examine energy production (NAD⁺, ATP) and ROS generation (H₂O₂, O₂⁻) during treatment of cells with sodium pyruvate or glycolysis inhibitor pathways. I also need to see if we cause mitochondrial damage another way, such as an electron transport chain uncoupling reagent like rotenone, to see if this reverses the effects of NaPyr.

REFERENCES

- 1. Bowden, S. D., G. Rowley, J. C. D. Hinton, and A. Thompson. 2009. Glucose and Glycolysis Are Required for the Successful Infection of Macrophages and Mice by Salmonella enterica Serovar Typhimurium. *Infection and Immunity* 77: 3117–3126.
- 2. Zheng, J., and S. Perlman. 2018. Immune responses in influenza A virus and human coronavirus infections: an ongoing battle between the virus and host. *Current Opinion in Virology* 28: 43–52.
- 3. Raj, R. S., E. A. Bonney, and M. Phillippe. 2014. Influenza, Immune System, and Pregnancy. *Reproductive Sciences* 21: 1434–1451.
- Quiã ± Ones-Parra, S., L. Loh, L. E. Brown, K. Kedzierska, and S. A. Valkenburg. 2014. Universal immunity to influenza must outwit immune evasion. *Frontiers in Microbiology* 5.
- Matias, G., R. Taylor, F. Haguinet, C. Schuck-Paim, R. Lustig, and V. Shinde. 2014. Estimates of mortality attributable to influenza and RSV in the United States during 1997-2009 by influenza type or subtype, age, cause of death, and risk status. *Influenza and Other Respiratory Viruses* 8: 507–515.
- 6. Zhang, W., and J. Wood. 2018. The Global Influenza Surveillance and Response System-65 years of building trust and sharing and a role model for global health security. *Influenza and Other Respiratory Viruses*.
- Gaiotto, T., and S. E. Hufton. 2016. Cross-Neutralising Nanobodies Bind to a Conserved Pocket in the Hemagglutinin Stem Region Identified Using Yeast Display and Deep Mutational Scanning. *Plos One* 11.
- Kosik, I., W. L. Ince, L. E. Gentles, A. J. Oler, M. Kosikova, M. Angel, J. G. Magadán, H. Xie, C. B. Brooke, and J. W. Yewdell. 2018. Correction: Influenza A virus hemagglutinin glycosylation compensates for antibody escape fitness costs. *PLOS Pathogens* 14.
- 9. Gamblin, S. J., and J. J. Skehel. 2010. Influenza Hemagglutinin and Neuraminidase Membrane Glycoproteins. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 285: 28403–28409.
- Palese, P., K. Tobita, M. Ueda, and R. W. Compans. 1974. Characterization of temperature sensitive influenza virus mutants defective in neuraminidase. *Virology* 61: 397–410.

- Liu, C., Eichelberger M. C., Compans R. W., Air G. M. 1995. Influenza type A virus neuraminidase does not play a role in viral entry, replication, assembly, or budding. J. *Virology*. 69, 1099–1106.
- Krammer, F., N. Pica, R. Hai, I. Margine, and P. Palese. 2013. Chimeric Hemagglutinin Influenza Virus Vaccine Constructs Elicit Broadly Protective Stalk-Specific Antibodies. *Journal of Virology* 87: 6542–6550.
- 13. 2017. Influenza (Flu). Centers for Disease Control and Prevention.
- 14. Cheng, A. 2009. Faculty of 1000 evaluation for Pandemic potential of a strain of influenza A (H1N1): early findings. *F1000 Post-publication peer review of the biomedical literature*.
- 15. Kilbourne, E. D. 2006. Influenza Pandemics of the 20th Century. *Emerging Infectious Diseases* 12: 9–14.
- 16. Moxnes, J. F., and O. A. Christophersen. 2008. The Spanish flu as a worst-case scenario? *Microbial Ecology in Health and Disease* 20: 1–26.
- 17. George, J. Mary, Y.2009. Swine Flu A Pandemic Outbreak. Available at http://www.veterinaryworld.org/Vol.2/December/Swine%20Flu%20-%20A%20Pandemic%20Outbreak.pdf.
- Chen, L.-M., C. T. Davis, H. Zhou, N. J. Cox, and R. O. Donis. 2008. Genetic Compatibility and Virulence of Reassortants Derived from Contemporary Avian H5N1 and Human H3N2 Influenza A Viruses. *PLoS Pathogens* 4.
- Taubenberger, J. K., A. H. Reid, T. A. Janczewski, and T. G. Fanning. 2001. Characterization of the 1918 influenza virus hemagglutinin and neuraminidase genes. *International Congress Series* 1219: 545–549.
- 20. The flu shot: The myths, the facts and why you should get it. *NBCNews.com*.
- 21. Mitchell*, G., D. A. Portnoy, and C. Chen*. 2016. Strategies Used by Bacteria to Grow in Macrophages. *Microbiology Spectrum* 4.
- 22. Admin, and About the Author: Admin Coming from Engineering cum Human Resource Development background. 2013. Difference Between Neutrophils and Macrophages | Neutrophils vs Macrophages. *Difference Between com*.
- 23. Kroon, J., S. Tol, S. V. Amstel, J. A. Elias, and M. Fernandez-Borja. 2013. The Small GTPase RhoB Regulates TNFα Signaling in Endothelial Cells. *PLoS ONE* 8.

- Evans, S. S., E. A. Repasky, and D. T. Fisher. 2015. Fever and the thermal regulation of immunity: the immune system feels the heat. *Nature Reviews Immunology* 15: 335–349.
- 25. Vural, A., and J. H. Kehrl. 2014. Autophagy in Macrophages: Impacting Inflammation and Bacterial Infection. *Scientifica* 2014: 1–13.
- 26. Mcclain, C., D. Hill, J. Schmidt, and A. Diehl. 1993. Cytokines and Alcoholic Liver Disease. *Seminars in Liver Disease* 13: 170–182.
- 27. Cheprasov, A. What Is Inflammation? Definition, Causes & Symptoms. Study.com
- 28. Griffiths, H. R., D. Gao, and C. Pararasa. 2017. Redox regulation in metabolic programming and inflammation. *Redox Biology* 12: 50–57.
- 29. Mège, J.-L., V. Mehraj, and C. Capo. 2011. Macrophage polarization and bacterial infections. *Current Opinion in Infectious Diseases* 24: 230–234.
- Akira, S., S. Uematsu, and O. Takeuchi. 2006. Pathogen Recognition and Innate Immunity. *Cell* 124: 783–801.
- 31. The Innate Immune System: Pattern-Recognition Receptors, Antigen-Nonspecific Antimicrobial Body Molecules, and Cytokines. *Welcome to BIOL 230: The Grapes of Staph Home Page*.
- 32. Akira, S., S. Uematsu, and O. Takeuchi. 2006. Pathogen Recognition and Innate Immunity. *Cell* 124: 783–801.
- 33. Crozat, K., and B. Beutler. 2004. TLR7: A new sensor of viral infection. *Proceedings* of the National Academy of Sciences 101: 6835–6836.
- Lee, J., T.-H. Chuang, V. Redecke, L. She, P. M. Pitha, D. A. Carson, E. Raz, and H. B. Cottam. 2003. Molecular basis for the immunostimulatory activity of guanine nucleoside analogs: Activation of Toll-like receptor 7. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 100: 6646–6651.
- 35. Schlee, M. 2013. Master sensors of pathogenic RNA RIG-I like receptors. *Immunobiology* 218: 1322–1335.
- Lund, J. M., L. Alexopoulou, A. Sato, M. Karow, N. C. Adams, N. W. Gale, A. Iwasaki, and R. A. Flavell. 2004. Recognition of single-stranded RNA viruses by Toll-like receptor 7. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 101: 5598– 5603.

- 37. Schmolke, M., J. R. Patel, E. D. Castro, M. T. Sanchez-Aparicio, M. B. Uccellini, J. C. Miller, B. Manicassamy, T. Satoh, T. Kawai, S. Akira, M. Merad, and A. Garcia-Sastre. 2014. RIG-I Detects mRNA of Intracellular Salmonella enterica Serovar Typhimurium during Bacterial Infection. *mBio* 5.
- Wang, H. Y., and R.-F. Wang. 2012. Enhancing Cancer Immunotherapy by Intracellular Delivery of Cell-Penetrating Peptides and Stimulation of Pattern-Recognition Receptor Signaling. *Synthetic Vaccines Advances in Immunology* 151– 176.
- Ohman, T., J. Rintahaka, N. Kalkkinen, S. Matikainen, and T. A. Nyman. 2009. Actin and RIG-I/MAVS Signaling Components Translocate to Mitochondria upon Influenza A Virus Infection of Human Primary Macrophages. *The Journal of Immunology* 182: 5682–5692.
- 40. Moore, C. B., and J. P.-Y. Ting. 2008. Regulation of Mitochondrial Antiviral Signaling Pathways. *Immunity* 28: 735–739.
- 41. Cao, Z., Y. Zhou, S. Zhu, J. Feng, X. Chen, S. Liu, N. Peng, X. Yang, G. Xu, and Y. Zhu. 2016. Pyruvate Carboxylase Activates the RIG-I-like Receptor-Mediated Antiviral Immune Response by Targeting the MAVS signalosome. *Scientific Reports* 6.
- 42. Tschopp, J. 2006. Faculty of 1000 evaluation for 5-Triphosphate RNA is the ligand for RIG-I. *F1000 Post-publication peer review of the biomedical literature*.
- 43. Nakhaei, P., P. Genin, A. Civas, and J. Hiscott. 2009. RIG-I-like receptors: Sensing and responding to RNA virus infection. *Seminars in Immunology* 21: 215–222.
- 44. Zhang, G., and S. Ghosh. 2001. Toll-like receptor–mediated NF-κB activation: a phylogenetically conserved paradigm in innate immunity. *Journal of Clinical Investigation* 107: 13–19.
- 45. Kawai, Taro, and Shizuo Akira. "Signaling to NF-KB by Toll-like Receptors." *Trends in Molecular Medicine*, vol. 13, no. 11, 2007, pp. 460–469., doi:10.1016/j. molmed.2007.09.002.
- 46. Duncan, J. A., D. T. Bergstralh, Y. Wang, S. B. Willingham, Z. Ye, A. G. Zimmermann, and J. P.-Y. Ting. 2007. Cryopyrin/NALP3 binds ATP/dATP, is an ATPase, and requires ATP binding to mediate inflammatory signaling. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 104: 8041–8046.
- 47. Petrilli, V., C. Dostert, D. A. Muruve, and J. Tschopp. 2007. The inflammasome: a danger sensing complex triggering innate immunity. *Current Opinion in Immunology* 19: 615–622.

- 48. Keller, Martin, et al. "Active Caspase-1 Is a Regulator of Unconventional Protein Secretion." *Cell*, vol. 132, no. 5, 2008, pp. 818–831., doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2007.12.040.
- Sutterwala, Fayyaz S., et al. "Critical Role for NALP3/CIAS1/Cryopyrin in Innate and Adaptive Immunity through Its Regulation of Caspase-1." *Immunity*, vol. 24, no. 3, 2006, pp. 317–327., doi:10.1016/j. immuni.2006.02.004.
- Agostini, L., F. Martinon, K. Burns, M. F. Mcdermott, P. N. Hawkins, and J. Tschopp. 2004. NALP3 Forms an IL-1β-Processing Inflammasome with Increased Activity in Muckle-Wells Autoinflammatory Disorder. *Immunity* 20: 319–325.
- 51. Takeuchi, O., and S. Akira. 2008. MDA5/RIG-I and virus recognition. *Current Opinion in Immunology* 20: 17–22.
- 52. Bauernfeind, F. G., G. Horvath, A. Stutz, E. S. Alnemri, K. Macdonald, D. Speert, T. Fernandes-Alnemri, J. Wu, B. G. Monks, K. A. Fitzgerald, V. Hornung, and E. Latz. 2009. Cutting Edge: NF- B Activating Pattern Recognition and Cytokine Receptors License NLRP3 Inflammasome Activation by Regulating NLRP3 Expression. *The Journal of Immunology* 183: 787–791.
- 53. Dinarello, C. A. 2009. Immunological and Inflammatory Functions of the Interleukin-1 Family. *Annual Review of Immunology* 27: 519–550.
- 54. Moon, J.-S., S. Hisata, M.-A. Park, G. M. Denicola, S. W. Ryter, K. Nakahira, and A. M. Choi. 2015. mTORC1-Induced HK1-Dependent Glycolysis Regulates NLRP3 Inflammasome Activation. *Cell Reports* 12: 102–115.
- Deberardinis, R. J., J. J. Lum, G. Hatzivassiliou, and C. B. Thompson. 2008. The Biology of Cancer: Metabolic Reprogramming Fuels Cell Growth and Proliferation. *Cell Metabolism* 7: 11–20.
- Deberardinis, R. J., N. Sayed, D. Ditsworth, and C. B. Thompson. 2008. Brick by brick: metabolism and tumor cell growth. *Current Opinion in Genetics & Development* 18: 54–61.
- 57. Huang, C.-Y., W.-T. Kuo, C.-Y. Huang, T.-C. Lee, C.-T. Chen, W.-H. Peng, K.-S. Lu, C.-Y. Yang, and L. C.-H. Yu. 2016. Distinct cytoprotective roles of pyruvate and ATP by glucose metabolism on epithelial necroptosis and crypt proliferation in ischaemic gut. *The Journal of Physiology* 595: 505–521.
- 58. Fleming, S. E., K. L. Zambell, and M. D. Fitch. 1997. Glucose and glutamine provide similar proportions of energy to mucosal cells of rat small intestine. *American Journal of Physiology-Gastrointestinal and Liver Physiology* 273.
- 59. Mark,B. 2000 2003. https://www.rose-hulman.edu/~brandt/Chem330/Pyruvate_DH.pdf

- 60. FAQ's. ATCC Sodium pyruvate-88. https://www.atcc.org/Global/FAQs/5/6/Sodium%20pyruvate-88.aspx
- Mallet, R. T., J. Sun, E. M. Knott, A. B. Sharma, and A. H. Olivencia-Yurvati. 2005. Metabolic Cardioprotection by Pyruvate: Recent Progress. *Experimental Biology and Medicine* 230: 435–443.
- Heiden, M. G. Vander, et al. "Understanding the Warburg Effect: The Metabolic Requirements of Cell Proliferation." *Science*, vol. 324, no. 5930, 2009, pp. 1029– 1033., doi:10.1126/science.1160809.
- 63. Krawczyk, C. M., T. Holowka, J. Sun, J. Blagih, E. Amiel, R. J. Deberardinis, J. R. Cross, E. Jung, C. B. Thompson, R. G. Jones, and E. J. Pearce. 2010. Toll-like receptor-induced changes in glycolytic metabolism regulate dendritic cell activation. *Blood* 115: 4742–4749.
- 64. Megan, M.Piganelli, J. 2013. Changing the energy of an immune response. Available in <u>http://www.ajcei.us/files/ajcei1211002.pdf</u>
- 65. Yu, Li, et al. "The Sweet Trap in Tumors: Aerobic Glycolysis and Potential Targets for Therapy." *Oncotarget*, vol. 7, no. 25, 2016, doi:10.18632/oncotarget.7676.
- 66. Maciver, N. J., S. R. Jacobs, H. L. Wieman, J. A. Wofford, J. L. Coloff, and J. C. Rathmell. 2008. Glucose metabolism in lymphocytes is a regulated process with significant effects on immune cell function and survival. *Journal of Leukocyte Biology* 84: 949–957.
- 67. Everts, B., E. Amiel, G. J. W. Van Der Windt, T. C. Freitas, R. Chott, K. E. Yarasheski, E. L. Pearce, and E. J. Pearce. 2012. Commitment to glycolysis sustains survival of NO-producing inflammatory dendritic cells. *Blood* 120: 1422–1431.
- Almeida, A., J. Almeida, J. P. Bolanos, and S. Moncada. 2001. Different responses of astrocytes and neurons to nitric oxide: The role of glycolytically generated ATP in astrocyte protection. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 98: 15294– 15299.
- Maciver, N. J., S. R. Jacobs, H. L. Wieman, J. A. Wofford, J. L. Coloff, and J. C. Rathmell. 2008. Glucose metabolism in lymphocytes is a regulated process with significant effects on immune cell function and survival. *Journal of Leukocyte Biology* 84: 949–957.
- 70. Zu, X. L., and M. Guppy. 2004. Cancer metabolism: facts, fantasy, and fiction. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications* 313: 459–465.

- 71. Vazquez, A., J. Liu, Y. Zhou, and Z. N. Oltvai. 2010. Catabolic efficiency of aerobic glycolysis: The Warburg effect revisited. *BMC Systems Biology* 4: 58.
- Bental, M., and C. Deutsch. 1993. Metabolic changes in activated T cells: An NMR study of human peripheral blood lymphocytes. *Magnetic Resonance in Medicine* 29: 317–326.
- 73. Yihao, M., Hong, L., Rong, Y., Yonghong, S., and Zhijian, S. 2014. Detection and segmentation of virus plaque using HOG and SVM: Toward automatic plaque assay. 3187–3198.
- 74. Sung, C., Y. Wei, S. Watanabe, H. S. Lee, Y. M. Khoo, L. Fan, A. P. S. Rathore, K. W.-K. Chan, M. M. Choy, U. S. Kamaraj, O. M. Sessions, P. Aw, P. F. D. Sessions, B. Lee, J. E. Connolly, M. L. Hibberd, D. Vijaykrishna, L. Wijaya, E. E. Ooi, J. G.-H. Low, and S. G. Vasudevan. 2016. Extended Evaluation of Virological, Immunological and Pharmacokinetic Endpoints of CELADEN: A Randomized, Placebo-Controlled Trial of Celgosivir in Dengue Fever Patients. *PLOS Neglected Tropical Diseases* 10.
- 75. Kohio, H. P., and A. L. Adamson. 2013. Glycolytic control of vacuolar-type ATPase activity: A mechanism to regulate influenza viral infection. *Virology* 444: 301–309.
- Chen, Q., E. J. Vazquez, S. Moghaddas, C. L. Hoppel, and E. J. Lesnefsky. 2003. Production of Reactive Oxygen Species by Mitochondria. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 278: 36027–36031.
- 77. Ramos-Ibeas, P., M. Barandalla, S. Colleoni, and G. Lazzari. 2017. Pyruvate antioxidant roles in human fibroblasts and embryonic stem cells. *Molecular and Cellular Biochemistry* 429: 137–150.
- Heid, M. E., P. A. Keyel, C. Kamga, S. Shiva, S. C. Watkins, and R. D. Salter. 2013. Mitochondrial Reactive Oxygen Species Induces NLRP3-Dependent Lysosomal Damage and Inflammasome Activation. *The Journal of Immunology* 191: 5230–5238.
- Zhou, R., A. Tardivel, B. Thorens, I. Choi, and J. Tschopp. 2009. Thioredoxininteracting protein links oxidative stress to inflammasome activation. *Nature Immunology* 11: 136–140.
- Tschopp, J., and K. Schroder. 2010. NLRP3 inflammasome activation: the convergence of multiple signalling pathways on ROS production? *Nature Reviews Immunology* 10: 210–215.
- Li, D., M. Piccioni, Z. Gao, C. Chen, Z. Chen, J. Nie, Z. Shan, Y. Li, A. Tsun, and B. Li. 2012. T cell metabolism in autoimmune diseases. *Autoimmune Diseases Contributing Factors, Specific Cases of Autoimmune Diseases, and Stem Cell and Other Therapies*.

- Matarese, G., C. Procaccini, and V. D. Rosa. 2008. The intricate interface between immune and metabolic regulation: a role for leptin in the pathogenesis of multiple sclerosis? *Journal of Leukocyte Biology* 84: 893–899.
- 83. Shi, L. Z., R. Wang, G. Huang, P. Vogel, G. Neale, D. R. Green, and H. Chi. 2011. HIF1α–dependent glycolytic pathway orchestrates a metabolic checkpoint for the differentiation of TH17 and Tregcells. *The Journal of Experimental Medicine* 208: 1367–1376.
- Tannahill, G. M., A. M. Curtis, J. Adamik, E. M. Palsson-Mcdermott, A. F. Mcgettrick, G. Goel, C. Frezza, N. J. Bernard, B. Kelly, N. H. Foley, L. Zheng, A. Gardet, Z. Tong, S. S. Jany, S. C. Corr, M. Haneklaus, B. E. Caffrey, K. Pierce, S. Walmsley, F. C. Beasley, E. Cummins, V. Nizet, M. Whyte, C. T. Taylor, H. Lin, S. L. Masters, E. Gottlieb, V. P. Kelly, C. Clish, P. E. Auron, R. J. Xavier, and L. A. J. O'Neill. 2013. Succinate is an inflammatory signal that induces IL-1β through HIF-1α. Nature 496: 238–242.
- 85. Everts, B., E. Amiel, G. J. W. Van Der Windt, T. C. Freitas, R. Chott, K. E. Yarasheski, E. L. Pearce, and E. J. Pearce. 2012. Commitment to glycolysis sustains survival of NO-producing inflammatory dendritic cells. *Blood* 120: 1422–1431.
- 86. Pulendran, B. 2004. Immune Activation: Death, Danger and Dendritic Cells. *Current Biology* 14.
- 87. Lupfer, C. R., A. Rodriguez, and T.-D. Kanneganti. 2017. Inflammasome activation by nucleic acids and nucleosomes in sterile inflammation... or is it sterile? *The FEBS Journal* 284: 2363–2374.
- Lupfer, C. R., P. K. Anand, Z. Liu, K. L. Stokes, P. Vogel, M. Lamkanfi, and T.-D. Kanneganti. 2014. Reactive Oxygen Species Regulate Caspase-11 Expression and Activation of the Non-canonical NLRP3 Inflammasome during Enteric Pathogen Infection. *PLoS Pathogens* 10.
- 89. Huang, C.-Y., W.-T. Kuo, C.-Y. Huang, T.-C. Lee, C.-T. Chen, W.-H. Peng, K.-S. Lu, C.-Y. Yang, and L. C.-H. Yu. 2016. Distinct cytoprotective roles of pyruvate and ATP by glucose metabolism on epithelial necroptosis and crypt proliferation in ischaemic gut. *The Journal of Physiology* 595: 505–521.
- Xia, S., G. Chen, B. Wang, Y. Yin, Z. Sun, J. Zhao, P. Li, L. Zhao, and H. Zhou. 2016. Addition of Sodium Pyruvate to Stored Red Blood Cells Attenuates Liver Injury in a Murine Transfusion Model. *Mediators of Inflammation* 2016: 1–9.
- 91. Broz, P., and D. M. Monack. 2013. Noncanonical Inflammasomes: Caspase-11 Activation and Effector Mechanisms. *PLoS Pathogens* 9.

92. Kayagaki, N., S. Warming, M. Lamkanfi, L. V. Walle, S. Louie, J. Dong, K. Newton, Y. Qu, J. Liu, S. Heldens, J. Zhang, W. P. Lee, M. Roose-Girma, and V. M. Dixit. 2011. Non-canonical inflammasome activation targets caspase-11. *Nature* 479: 117–121.

Table 1. MHN Buffer.

Ingredients	Amount
1M MgSO ₄	24.65 g
50 mM HEPES	11,915 g
150 mM NaCl	0.876 g
DD water	QS to 100 ml

Table 2. 1x Plaque Assay Medium.

Ingredients For (20 ml)	Amount
2x MEM medium	10 ml
Molecular water	10 ml

Table 3. 2x Plaque Assay Medium.

Ingredients For (50 ml)	Amount
H ₂ O	31 ml
10x MEM	10 ml
100x glutamine	1 ml
BSA 7,5%	4 ml
Penicillin streptomycin (10000 U/ml	1 ml
each)	
Sodium bicarbonate	3 ml

Table 4. Wash Buffer: 1x Tris Buffer Saline With 0.05% Tween 20 (TBST).

Ingredients For (1L)	Amount
10x Tris buffer saline (see table 5)	100 ml
H ₂ O	900 ml
Tween	0.5 ml

Table 5. 10x Tris Buffer Saline.

Ingredients For (1L)	Amount
Tris base	24.5 g
Sodium chloride	87.65 g
H ₂ O	900 ml

Table 6. 1xTris/Glycine/SDS Buffer (Running Buffer).

Ingredients	Amount
Tris base	30 g
Glycine	144 g
SDS	10 g
H ₂ O	1L

Table 7.1xTris/Glycine Buffer (Transfer Buffer).

Ingredients For (1L)	Amount
H ₂ O	700ml
10x Transfer buffer	100ml
Methanol	200ml

Table 8. Antibodies.

Antibodies	Catalog Number
Rabbit anti-mouse β-Actin	8457S
Rabbit anti-mouse IL-1β	125078
Rabbit anti-mouse ΙκΒ-α	9242S
Rabbit anti-mouse Phospho-IkB-a	2859S
Mouse anti-mouse Caspase-1	661228
Anti-Rabbit-HRP secondary	111-035-144
Anti-mouse-HRP secondary	HAF007

Table 9. Primer Sequences.

Primers	Sequence
Actin forward	GGCTGTATTCCCCTCCATCG
Actin reverse	CCAGTTGGTAACAATGCCATGT
IL-1β forward	GACCTTCCAGGATGAGGACA
IL-1β reverse	AGCTCATATGGGTCCGACAG
TNF-α forward	CATCTTCTCAAAATTCGAGTGACAA
TNF-α reverse	TGGGAGTAGACAAGGTACAACCC
IL-6 forward	TCCAGTTGCCTTCTTGGGAC
IL-6 reverse	GTACTCCAGAAGACCAGAGG
M1 forward	TGAGTCTTCTAACCGAGGTC
M1 reverse	GGTCTTGTCTTTAGCCATTCC
NP forward	CTCGTCGCTTATGACAAAGAAG
NP reverse	AGATCATCATGTGAGTCAGAC



Figure 1. Generating the Standard Curve for ELISA Test



Figure 2. Sodium Pyruvate Affects Cytokine Production During IAV Infection. Samples that treated with sodium pyruvate recorded a low level of cytokines production in figure **(A)** IL-1 β = 30<80 pg/ml comparing with samples infected with flu virus without NaPyr. In figure **(B)** samples treated with NaPyr recorded 200 pg/ml Il-6 cytokines < 500 control samples. Figure **(C)** showed that samples treated with NaPyr recorded 90pg/ml TNF- α <150 pg/ml for control samples.



Figure 3. Sodium Pyruvate Does Not Affect Virus Replication. (A) both bars show there is no difference in the virus titer in both infected macrophages with flu virus as a control and infected macrophages with flu treated with NaPyr. In (B) infected samples with Flu virus and treated with NaPyr recorded the highest point. (C) Treated samples recorded highest M1 of the virus.



Figure 4. Inhibitors of Glycolysis Also Affect Cytokine Production. In figure (A-C) the IL-1 β production is less in infected sample treated with 2DG, NaPyr, and HA comparing to the control while Il-1 β showed increase in the cytokine production in sample treated with HA at 29 h. (D-F) showed that all treated samples have decreased the cytokines production IL-6 but not HA. (G-I). NaPyr and 2DG showed decrease in the TNF- α production < the control RPMI+Flu 200pg/ml at 6, 12, 24, and 29h. H.A showed increase cytokines>190 at 29 h.



Figure 5. RT-PCR of Cytokine Gene Expression. **(A-C)** RNA was extracted from cells infected and treated as indicted at different times after infection (6, 12, 24, and 29h). RNA was converted to cDNA and used for RT-PCR.

RPMPMRPMRPMI+F10126 MDC2DCut Ent24H 2DG 6 H NaPyr 6 H



<u>ВРМЯРМИН 1211</u>24 Н Н. Исан Гра + Пиа 1211-24 Н RPMI 6Н











D



G

Figure 6. IL-1b Expression and Inflammatory Signaling Pathways. **6A-B** show that the production level of pro-IL-1 β with all samples treated with NaPyr, 2DG, and H.A at 12-hour samples compared to the control RPMI+ Flu at 12 -hours. **C** shows densitometry graph for pro-IL-1 β . **(6D-F)** Measuring (Phospho-I κ B) in samples treated with NaPyr, 2DG, and H.A at different time point compared with control RPMI+Flu. **G** shows Phospho-I κ B densitometry.





Figure 7. The Effects of NaPyr to Cell Death and Mitochondrial Damage. The graphs above showed the cell death and mitochondrial damage, and that is clearly described the lowest damage during treated infected macrophages with flu virus and treated with sodium pyruvate. While the mitochondrial damage hits to the 80000 MFI in case of using H.A and it hits to 50000 MFI in case of using 2DG.



Figure 8. The ffEect of NaPyr on Caspase -1 Activation in Flu Infection. Showed the activation of caspace-1 in RPMI+Flu+ NaPyr samples compared with RPMI+Flu and other inhibitors. In **(B)** showed the densitometry of caspase P20 relative to caspace P45.



Figure 9. Effects of NaPyr on *E. Coli*. (A) recorded that control samples peak to 1600pg/ml RPMI + *E. Coli*. *E. Coli* treated with NaPyr showed 1500pg/ml. (B) showed 2000pg/ml to treated samples with NaPyr. In (C) treated samples with NaPyr recorded 1400pg/ml.



Figure 10. Effects of NaPyr on LPS+ATP. In (A) IL-1 β control sample RPMI+LPS+ATP recorded 1900pg/ml. In (B) samples treated with RPMI+LPS+ATP+2DG showed 500pg/ml IL-6 cytokines production <590 pg/ml with control samples. (C) showed TNF- α production samples treated with RPMI+LPS+ATP+ NaPyr 700 pg/ml equal to control samples.



Figure 11. Effects of NaPyr on Mitochondrial Damage for Other Infections. (A) showed the mitochondrial damage in the control RPMI and LPS +ATP samples with different treatments. (B) showed the mitochondrial damage with *E.Coli* compared to the control.



Figure 12. Testing the Effect of NaPyr on Caspase -1 Activation with Other Infection. (A) showed caspase-1 activation with infected samples with LPS. (B) denositometry for the western blot. (C) comparing treated samples with NaPyr, 2DG, and H.A in during *E*. *Coli* infection.